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GENERAL INFORMATION AND CONTACT DETAILS OF THE
GROUP
AS Liwathon E.O.S. (former AS Vopak E.O.S.) is a company registered in Estonia, the main activities
of which are storage and transhipment of oil products through terminals located in Maardu and
Muuga Harbour. AS Liwathon E.O.S. Group includes the following subsidiaries: AS E.R.S., Tallinn LNG
OÜ and Liwathon Limited. In 2021, AS Liwathon E.O.S. Group employed 218 employees on average
(2020: 247 employees).
The shareholder of AS Liwathon E.O.S. is Liwathon Terminals Estonia OÜ. The sole shareholder of
Liwathon Terminals Estonia OÜ is a Guernsey company Liwathon Terminals Limited, which is 100%
owned Barclay Thomas Rowland.
			
Vana-Narva mnt 27a
					
74114 Maardu
					
Republic of Estonia
Commercial registry code:			10715645
Phone: 				372 6 266 100
Fax:					372 6 266 163
E-mail: 				
info@liwathoneos.com
Auditor:					
Ernst & Young Baltic AS
Legal address:
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1. LIWATHON AT A GLANCE
L I W A T H O N E.O.S.

BERTHS
7 Berths with depths of
between 6,1m to 18m

P ORT SERVI CES
Loading and unloading of
vessels of any size,
up to VLCC (300 000mt)

T O TA L
1 051 800 cbm

R AILWAY SERVI CES
Loading and unloading of
rail tank cars (39km of rail
tracks and 398 unloading
posi�ons)

TERM I NALLI N G SERVI CES
Storage, blending, hea�ng,
bunkering, addi�ve
services, lab on-site

78 tanks
Tank Sizes
1 500 – 1000 000 cbm
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THE LARGEST INDEPENDENT OIL PRODUCTS TERMINAL
FACILITY ON THE BALTIC SEA
Headquartered in Maardu, Estonia with
an oﬃce in London
Independently owned and managed

L I W A T H O N E.O.S.

and provide strategic storage (including storage
for arbitrage and contango storage)
Railway infrastructure

REGIONAL HUB
WITH A GLOBAL REACH

EFFICIENCY AND STRATEGIC POSITIONING
Access to distant
markets
(US, ARA, Asia)

Accommodates
(incl. VLCC)
No ice

various

Product
sale price

Reliability and
a terminal

outcomes
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2. CEO STATEMENT
AS Liwathon E.O.S. Group’s (the Group) main activities include the provision of throughput, blending
and storage services for liquid fuels. The service includes unloading oil products from rail tank cars
for further transhipment into seagoing vessels. The Group also possesses technology for unloading
oil products from vessels to terminal tanks. The Group owns four separate terminals, two of which
are located in Maardu and two in Muuga Harbour. In addition to the transhipment service, blending
and segregated storage services of liquid fuels are also provided. The total capacity of the tank
farm owned by the Group is currently around 1,052,000 m3 and it is technologically equipped for
throughput and storage of dark and light liquid fuels.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s subsidiaries were as follows: AS E.R.S, Liwathon Limited and
Tallinn LNG OÜ.
The Group continued to implement our strategy in 2021. The results of the year were satisfactory:
more than 8 million tons of liquid fuels passed through the Group’s terminals, both by rail and by
sea, which is more than the year before. The market situation changed significantly during the year
compared to 2020, and this was reflected in the reduced demand for storage services, as the prices
of petroleum products began to rise rapidly. At the same time, the company’s energy expenses
(electricity and gas) began to increase substantially in the second half of the year, leading to a
reduction in the profit margin.
Energy efficiency and energy cost control have been the keywords of the last year, and additional
opportunities have been identified and investments made in this field to further increase their
operating efficiency. These investments will help to reduce costs and improve efficiency in the
medium term.
In 2021, the Group’s total operating income came in at 26.8 million euros (2020: 32.7 million euros),
an 18% decrease compared to 2020, while direct operating expenses were reduced by 2%. EBITDA
amounted to 7.2 million euros in 2021 (2020: 15.6 million euros). The net profit of the Group in
2021 was 6.0 million euros (2020: 12.5 million euros), with a net margin of 22.75%.
In the reporting period, the Group invested almost 1.0 million euros (2020: 1.3 million euros) in
strengthening and modernizing its infrastructure. In addition, the Group made significant investments to bring its operations in line with the standards of environmental protection and employee
health and safety. For the next year, the Group plans to continue investing in the improvement of
the terminals’ infrastructure and working environment.
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More than 8 million tons of liquid fuels passed through the Group’s terminals, both by rail and
by sea, which is more than the year before.

2021

32,7 m €

2020
26,8 m €

Total operating income

12,5 m €

Energy efficiency and energy cost control have been the keywords of the last year.

6m€

Net profit

Key ratios that characterize the performance of the Group are:
Return on property, plant and equipment (EBITDA / property, plant and equipment) 18.9%
(2020: 38.7%)
EBITDA margin (EBITDA / sales) 27.5% (2020: 53.4%)
Equity ratio (E/A) 0.78 (2020: 0.76)
The following formulas were used to calculate the above ratios:
EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization)
Return on property, plant and equipment (EBITDA / property, plant and equipment = operating
profit before depreciation, finance income and costs, and corporate income tax / [(opening
balance of property, plant and equipment + closing balance of property, plant and equipment)
/ 2]
EBITDA margin (EBITDA / sales) = operating profit before depreciation and amortization, finance
income and costs, and corporate income tax / revenue
Equity ratio (E/A) = total equity / total assets

2021 Annual Report

Return on property, plant and equipment

27,5 %

EBITDA margin

0,78

18,9 %

53,4 %

38,7 %

2020
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2021

0,76

Equity ratio

On average, 218 persons were employed by the Group in 2021 (2020: 247 persons). The number
of employees at the end of the period was 210 (2020: 220). Staff costs in 2021 amounted to 9.1
million euros (2020: 9.3 million euros).
Dividends in the amount of 2.0 million euros were distributed in 2021. No dividends were distributed in 2020. The Group has no financial liabilities or debts, except for the lease liabilities
related to its operating activities. The Group is in a strong financial position with a balance of cash
and cash equivalents, including term deposits, amounting to 22.81 million euros as at the end of
the reporting year (as at the end of 2020: 16.28 million euros), which enables us to look for new
growth opportunities.
While 2022 will certainly bring its own challenges, the Group is in a strong position to take advantage
of the resulting opportunities that will arise as we continue to build on the formation of global
storage and blending hub.

The Group is in a strong financial position, which enables us to look for new growth opportunities.

Gert Tiivas

Chairman of the Management Board
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3. 2021 HIGHLIGHTS
3.1. GROUP STRUCTURE AND GOVERNANCE
Liwathon group is privately owned by the British Rowland family.

Barclay Thomas Rowland

LIWATHON TERMINALS LIMITED
The Old Stables; Rue a L’Or, St Peter Port,
GY1 1QG, Guernsey

LIWATHON TERMINALS
ESTONIA O.U.
Vana-Narva mnt 27a
74114, Maardu, Estonia

LIWATHON E.O.S.

Vana-Narva mnt 27a
74114, Maardu, Estonia

AS E.R.S.

Vana-Narva mnt 27a
74114, Maardu, Estonia

Liwathon Limited

2 Duke Street, St James’s,
SW1Y 6 BN, U.K.

Tallinn LNG OÜ

Vana-Narva mnt 27a
74114, Maardu, Estonia

Liwathon E.O.S was the first asset acquired by Liwathon Group in 2019. AS Liwathon E.O.S. has
three subsidiaries: AS E.R.S., Liwathon Limited and OÜ Tallinn LNG.
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MANAGEMENT BOARD
Gert Tiivas
is our Chief Executive Officer. A former CEO of East Capital Explorer, he has
experience in investments and restructuring. Previously, Gert was also the CEO
of the Baltic Stock Exchanges, a large telecom company and a private bank.

Boris Akulenko
is our Chief Commercial Officer. Boris has 29 years of experience in the liquid
fuels sector, including storage, shipping and trade.

Merika Nimmo
is our Chief Legal Officer. She has worked in the Estonian Prosecutor’s Office
and one of the leading law firms in the Baltic region.

Heiki Karu
is our Chief Operating Officer. Heiki has many years of experience in operating
terminals on the Baltic Sea, incl. over 10 years at Liwathon E.O.S.

SUPERVISORY BOARD
Edmund Rowland
Chairman of the Board. Previously, the CEO of a Middle Eastern Trade Bank, Edmund has extensive
experience in finance and trade. He was also Chairman of the Board of a listed conglomerate with
investments in oil and gas services.
Aurelien Rowland
Board Member. He has numerous years of international experience in private equity and financial
services in Europe.
Peter Lang
Board Member. Formerly the CEO of a European Bank, Peter has numerous years of experience in
finance and restructuring in Europe.
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3.2. GROUP INFRASTRUCTURE
Full range of terminalling services
Favourably located in Muuga, Estonia, our terminals open vast opportunities for sea and rail transportation of liquid fuels throughout the Baltic region.
We provide an extensive range of quality services for the handling, throughput, blending and storage of liquid fuels that are traded for worldwide destinations.

Our extensive network of onshore terminals, blending facilities, pipelines and railway
infrastructure, creates a unique platform to deliver efficient and customised services
internationally.
Our competent and experienced team enables the best business outcome by developing
tailored solutions that meet the objectives of our customers.
Quality and quantity controls are carried out by acknowledged independent
international experts that are engaged in all the processes. Their assistance contributes
to the reliability and transparency of all operations.
We remain firmly committed to adhering to the highest industry standards of
compliance and best practice, and we continuously endeavour to create and add value
for our customers and partners.
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Four terminals in one structure create unprecedented strong organisation with a unique set of
services and abilities.
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TERMOIL

TRENDGATE

PAKTERMINAL

STIVTERMINAL

Latitude 59.457140
Longitude 24.971130

Latitude 59.451070
Longitude 24.922760

Latitude 59.491980
Longitude 24.940260

Latitude 59.487310
Longitude 24.962320

Storage capacities

Storage capacities

Storage capacities

Storage capacities

415 000 cbm

250 000 cbm

311 300 cbm

75 500 cbm

Number of tanks

Number of tanks

Number of tanks

Number of tanks

30

12

33

3

Tank sizes

Tank sizes

Tank sizes

Tank sizes

From 1 500 to 100 000 cbm

From 5 000 to 30 000 cbm

From 1 500 to 15 000 cbm

Ca 25 000 cbm

Products

Products

Products

Products

HSFO, LSFO, VGO

HSFO, LSFO, VGO, Crude

HSFO, LSFO, VGO, Crude,
Gasoline, Gasoil, Solvent,
Naphtha, GCT

Jet fuel, Gasoline, Gasoil

TOTAL

1 051 800 cbm

78 tanks

Tank Sizes
1 500 – 1000 000 cbm

Railway and truck
unloading facilities

Storage

Berths

Operations

Location

78 tanks holding
anything between
1,500 - 100,000 cbm,
allowing for maximum
flexibility

7 berths with a depth
of up to 18 meters

The largest
independent oil
terminal in the Baltics
with over 1 million
cbm (6.7 million
barrels) of storage
capacity

Four sites located
around the port of
Muuga near Tallinn and
interconnected through
a highly sophisticated
pipeline system,
allowing blending,
storing and STS
operations throughout
terminal infrastructure

398 railway unloading
position with 39 km
of rail tracks on site
and truck unloading
facilities

All berths are inter-connected, allowing for Ship to Ship (STS) operations between vessels
berthed at different quays of the Liwathon E.O.S. terminal. STS operations are restricted
elsewhere on the Baltic Sea.
In the past 20 years, Port Muuga has never imposed any ice-class restrictions on large
tankers.
The draft limit is 17m, allowing Liwathon E.O.S. to load the largest, VLCC-type tankers.
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3.3. COMMERCIAL AND FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
During 2021 market for liquid fuel terminals was characterised with following trends:
Backwardation (futures prices were lower than current prices) market structure, which limits
customers need for storage.
Storage terminalling overcapacity in the Baltic-Nordic countries region.
Limited blending economics resulting in lower ships deliveries / throughputs.
Increase of energy prices in 2H2021 with negative effect for terminalling operations for oil
products required heating – fuel oil, vacuum gasoil, and some of crude oils.
LEOS’s responded to new circumstances with introducing additional optionality for customers
through “spot” contracts.
Company prepared to extend range of its services to supply Estonian retail market and service
exports of clean products produced in Estonia.
LEOS maintained diverse customers portfolio with:
Oil majors
Exporters
Growth in niche-market players’ activities
The unique combination of premium business models, high level of operational flexibility and customers’ satisfaction creates strong foundation for LEOS to extend its success in 2022.

2021 Annual Report

|

15

3.4. INVESTING FOR THE FUTURE
Liwathon invested approximately EUR 1 million in the strengthening and modernization of its infrastructure in 2021.
Our budget for capital investment in recent years has covered the below main focus areas:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Environment. Dismantling the Termoil old railway estacade. Installing floating roofs into Pakterminal tanks nr 30, 31 and 32.
Energy efficiency. We have worked hard to reduce costs and to improve efficiency in our
largest cost area, which is energy. As a result, we have managed to decrease electricity and
fuel consumption by approximately 4% in 2021.
Health and Safety. Every year, we continue to invest in to health and safety solutions. This
year we have changed main firefighting lines for Tankfarm nr 5. in Pakterminal. We have also
invested into digitization of railway department communications.
For better customer service. We have installed extensions of DPP MLA-s on births 10a, 9a and
7 to better serve small vessels. We have invested into improving of product segregation at the
Termoil tank farm and also added additional line connections in Pakterminal.

Reinstalling floating roofs for tanks
no 30, 31, 32 in Pakterminal.

Extensions of DPP MLA-s.

Installing additional connections into lines in
PH5 to improve flexibility in tankfarm no 4
in Pakterminal.

Partial demolition of estacade no 1
in Termoil terminal.

2021 Annual Report

|

16

3.5. SHEQ OVERVIEW
Liwathon has an integrated management system, which is certified in accordance with ISO
14001:2015 and ISO 50001:2018 standards. The most recent audits were carried out in Detsember
2021 for both standards. ISO 14001 and in November 2020 for energy management standard ISO
50001. All Liwathon terminal services are managed in accordance with the integrated management
system and are kept continuously in full compliance with the valid legislation, EU regulations,
industry standards and internal policies and guidelines.
Sustainability issues, control and trend analysis of SHEQ KPIs, as well as relevant monitoring and
reporting systems are of key importance to Liwathon. Liwathon has implemented SHEQ KPI data collecting system for personnel incidents, such as the number of fatalities, injuries, medical treatment
cases, number of restricted work cases as well as for process incidents, such as near miss incidents,
unsafe acts, spills/leaks, fires and product contaminations. In 2021, one medical treatment case
and 2 near miss incidents were recorded.
There have been no official complaints received about the company’s activities during 2021. No
proceedings or related investigations have been initiated.

3.6. HUMAN RESOURCES
COVID-19 pandemic
In 2021, Liwathon continued to support conditions for remote work due to the global Covid-19
virus pandemic. We also introduced measures to promote vaccination, such as linking the payment
of annual bonuses to vaccination against Covid-19.
Employee appraisal and feedback
Liwathon continued with a uniformed performance appraisal system allowing all employees and
managers to evaluate performance and agree goals. We also conducted a 360-degree feedback
survey, allowing each Liwathon employee to give feedback to his colleagues and managers.
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3.7. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Liwathon supports Maardu Youth Centre

Employee´s children tour to the terminal

For many years, and as also in 2021, Liwathon
has been supporting the Maardu Youth Centre.
The contribution is used to improve the opportunities for leisure and sport activities for the
local young people. Young people play different
games and take part in sports competitions.

Liwathon is committed to being a good
employer and to value our employees and their
families. In 2021 we introduced the possibility
to our employees to invite their children to get
acquainted with Liwathon terminals and the
main building of the Port of Tallinn. After that
children received ice cream and some snacks
in the Main Office.

TalTech scholarships and traineeship
In 2021, Liwathon decided to support young
and talented university students. In cooperation with the TalTech University, the
leading sciences and technical university in
Estonia, Liwathon awarded 1 scholarship to an
outstanding TalTech student. The award was
given to the TalTech student, who is doing his
bachelor degree in Mechanical engineering
and energy technology.

Received Awards
In 2021 Liwathon received an award as
Harjumaa´s most successful company in 2020.

2021 Annual Report
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Assets

Note

31 December 2021
EUR thousand

31 December 2020
EUR thousand

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4

13,610

11,653

Trade and other receivables

5

11,702

7,479

Other financial assets

10

0

1,218

Prepayments

5

236

264

Inventories

6

1,657

1,552

Non-current assets held for sale

6

0

551

27,205

22,717

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

37,577

38,751

Intangible assets

8

78

43

Total non-current assets

37,655

38,794

TOTAL ASSETS

64,860

61,511

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current assets
Lease liabilities

9

846

860

Trade and other payables

11

3,524

3,583

4,370

4,443

9,922

10,591

9,922

10,591

14,292

15,034

2,133

2,133

57,172

57,172

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

9

Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital

12

Share premium
Legal reserve

1

213

213

Revaluation reserve

1

3,185

3,185

Foreign currency reserve

1

67

-19

130,210

126,206

-142,413

-142,413

TOTAL EQUITY

50,568

46,477

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

64,860

61,511

Retained earnings
Treasury shares

12

The notes on pages 26-65 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Note

2021
EUR thousand

2020
EUR thousand

Revenue

13

26,180

29,307

Other income

16

587

3,427

26,767

32,734

Total operating income
Operating expenses
Operating expenses

14

-10,445

-7,733

Staff costs

15

-9,107

-9,305

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

7, 8

-2,224

-2,122

Other expenses

16

-15

-50

-21,791

-19,210

Total operating expenses

Operating profit
Finance income

17

1,887

293

Finance costs

17

-358

-1,296

Total finance income and costs

1,529

-1,003

Profit (loss) before tax

6,504

12,521

-500

0

6,004

12,521

86

-19

6,090

12,502

Income tax expense

12

Net profit (loss) for the financial year
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income (loss) for the financial
year

The notes on pages 26-65 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Cash flows from operating activities

Note

Profit before tax

2021
EUR thousand

2020
EUR thousand

6,504

12,521

Adjustments
Depreciation and impairment of property,
plant and equipment

7

2,196

2,095

Amortization and impairment of intangible
assets

8

27

27

Gain/loss (-/+) on disposal and write-off of
property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets

16

-330

-3,191

Other finance income/expenses

17

-1,529

1,003

-5

-26

10

-825

0

Change in receivables and inventories related to
operating activities

5, 6

-78

10,352

Change in liabilities and prepayments related to
operating activities

11

525

-10,844

Income tax on dividends

12

-500

0

9, 17

-362

-389

5,626

11,548

Other adjustments
Gain/loss (-/+) on sale of shares

Interest paid
Total cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

7

-978

-1,308

Purchase of intangible assets

8

-61

-14

7,16

811

4,799

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment
Proceeds from sale of shares

10

2,063

0

Acquisition of a subsidiary (net of cash acquired)

18

0

-1,305

0

-20

Loans to parent company
Loans to related parties

21

-8,308

0

Repayment of loans to related parties

21

8,175

0

Sale of subsidiary

16

0

200

Interest received

17

91

7

Change in term deposits

5

-4,438

-4,653

-2,636

-2,293

Total cash flows from investing activities
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Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid

12

-2,000

0

Lease principal payments

9

-747

-812

-2,747

-812

243

8,443

11,654

3,929

271

8,443

1,713

-718

13,610

11,654

Total cash flows from financing activities
Total cash flow
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
year

4

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash
equivalents
Effect of exchange gains/losses on cash and bank
balances
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

4

The notes on pages 26-65 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Share
capital

Share
premium

Legal
reserve

Revaluation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Unrealized
exchange
rate
differences

Treasury
shares

Total

2,133

57,172

213

3,185

113,685

0

-142,413

33,975

Profit for the year

0

0

0

0

12,521

0

0

12,521

Other comprehensive loss

0

0

0

0

0

-19

0

-19

Total comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

12,521

-19

0

12,502

2,133

57,172

213

3,185

126,206

-19

-142,413

46,477

Profit for the year

0

0

0

0

6,004

0

0

6,004

Dividends paid

0

0

0

0

-2,000

0

0

-2,000

Other comprehensive
income

0

0

0

0

0

86

0

86

Total comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

6,004

86

0

6,090

2,133

57,172

213

3,185

130,210

67

-142,413

50,568

Balance as at 31 December
2019

Balance as at 31 December
2020

Balance as at 31 December
2021

Additional information on share capital has been disclosed in Note 12.
The notes on pages 26-65 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 Accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
AS Liwathon E.O.S. is a company registered in the Republic of Estonia (legal form – public limited company), the main activities of which are transhipment and storage of oil products through the terminals in Maardu and Muuga Harbour.
The consolidated financial statements of AS Liwathon E.O.S. for the year ended 31 December 2021 include the financial
statements of AS Liwathon E.O.S. (the parent company) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter together: the Group).
The following consolidation group entities are included in the consolidated financial statements for the year 2021:

Ownership
Domicile

2021

2020

Main activity

Owner

U.K.

100%

100%

Business development and
support services

AS Liwathon E.O.S.

OÜ Tallinn LNG

Estonia

100%

100%

Storage services of liquids and
gases

AS Liwathon E.O.S.

AS E.R.S.

Estonia

100%

100%

Transportation activities

AS Liwathon E.O.S.

Liwathon Limited

The parent company’s legal address is Vana-Narva mnt 27a, 74114 Maardu, Estonia.
The shareholder of AS Liwathon E.O.S. is Liwathon Terminals Estonia OÜ. The sole shareholder of Liwathon Terminals Estonia
OÜ is a Guernsey company Liwathon Terminals Limited.
The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Management Board on 25 April 2022. According
to the Commercial Code of the Republic of Estonia, the annual report has to be approved by the supervisory board and the
general meeting of shareholders of the parent company. The financial statements have been prepared in thousands of euros.

Summary of key accounting policies
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented
below. The accounting policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented in the financial statements. Group
entities use uniform accounting policies.

Basis of preparation
The Group’s 2021 consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted in the European Union.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis as presented in the accounting policies
below.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires the management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and make
estimates and assumptions regarding the future. Accounting estimates may often not coincide with the subsequent actual
events related to them. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and they are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or the areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are presented in Note 3 to these consolidated financial statements.
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A. Changes in accounting policies and presentation
Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations
The following new or revised standards and interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2021.
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 (Amendments) - In August
2020, the IASB published Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16, completing its work in response to IBOR reform. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address
the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk free
interest rate (RFR). In particular, the amendments provide for a practical expedient when accounting for changes in
the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, to require the effective interest
rate to be adjusted, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest. Also, the amendments introduce reliefs
from discontinuing hedge relationships including a temporary relief from having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component. Furthermore, the amendments to
IFRS 4 are designed to allow insurers who are still applying IAS 39 to obtain the same reliefs as those provided by the
amendments made to IFRS 9. There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to enable users
of financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments
and risk management strategy. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
with earlier application permitted. While the application is retrospective, an entity is not required to restate prior
periods. The amendment had no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
IFRS 16 Leases – COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment) - The amendment applies, retrospectively, to
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application is permitted, including in financial
statements not yet authorized for issue at 28 May 2020. IASB amended the standard to provide relief to lessees from
applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The amendment provides a practical expedient for the lessee to account for any change in lease
payments resulting from the COVID-19-related rent concession the same way it would account for the change under
IFRS 16, if the change was not a lease modification, only if all of the following conditions are met:
The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less
than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change.
Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021.
There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.
The amendment had no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted
Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - The amendments
address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main consequence of
the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed
in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a
business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015, the IASB postponed the effective date
of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. The
amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. These amendments had no impact of the financial statements of
the Group as the Group has no associates or joint ventures.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments)The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier application permitted. However, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board has deferred the effective date by one year,
i.e., 1 January 2023, to provide companies with more time to implement any classification changes resulting from
the amendments. The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies
determine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date
should be classified as current or non-current. The amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement
of financial position and do not change existing requirements around measurement or timing of recognition of any
asset, liability, income or expenses, nor the information that entities disclose about those items. Also, the amendments clarify the classification requirements for debt which may be settled by the company issuing own equity instruments.In November 2021, the Board issued an exposure draft (ED), which clarifies how to treat liabilities that are
subject to covenants to be complied with, at a date subsequent to the reporting period. In particular, the Board
proposes narrow scope amendments to IAS 1 which effectively reverse the 2020 amendments requiring entities to
classify as current, liabilities subject to covenants that must only be complied with within the next twelve months after
the reporting period, if those covenants are not met at the end of the reporting period. Instead, the proposals would
require entities to present separately all non-current liabilities subject to covenants to be complied with only within
twelve months after the reporting period. Furthermore, if entities do not comply with such future covenants at the
end of the reporting period, additional disclosures will be required. The proposals will become effective for annual
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reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and will need be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS
8, while early adoption is permitted. The Board has also proposed to delay the effective date of the 2020 amendments
accordingly, such that entities will not be required to change current practice before the proposed amendments come
into effect. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management has assessed that the amendment
has no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (Amendments) - The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier application permitted. The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards as follows:
IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations.
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of
property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the
asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will recognize such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which costs a company
includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous.
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the Illustrative Examples accompanying
IFRS 16 Leases.
Management has assessed that the amendment has no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies
(Amendments) - The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier
application permitted. The amendments provide guidance on the application of materiality judgments to accounting
policy disclosures. In particular, the amendments to IAS 1 replace the requirement to disclose ‘significant’ accounting
policies with a requirement to disclose ‘material’ accounting policies. Also, guidance and illustrative examples are
added in the Practice Statement to assist in the application of the materiality concept when making judgments about
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management has not yet
assessed the impact of these amendments.
IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates
(Amendments) - The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier
application permitted and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. The amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates, defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. Also, the amendments clarify
what changes in accounting estimates are and how these differ from changes in accounting policies and corrections
of errors. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management has not yet assessed the impact of
these amendments.
IAS 12 Income taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments) The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application permitted. In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception under IAS 12 and specify how companies should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Under the amendments, the initial recognition exception does not apply to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. It only applies if the recognition of a lease asset and lease liability (or decommissioning liability and decommissioning asset component) give
rise to taxable and deductible temporary differences that are not equal. The amendments have not yet been endorsed
by the EU. Management has not yet assessed the impact of these amendments.
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B. Foreign currencies
I. Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements of all group companies have been prepared in the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euros
(EUR), which is the Group’s presentation currency.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of euros rounded to the nearest thousand, except when
otherwise indicated.

II. Foreign currency transactions and financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions are recorded based on the foreign currency exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are recognized in the statement
of comprehensive income as income or expense for the period. Monetary financial assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into euros using the exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing on the reporting
date. Gains and losses from foreign currency translation are recognized in profit or loss as income or expense for the period.

III. Translation of foreign operations
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into euros at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognized in OCI. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss.

C. Basis of consolidation
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
Thus, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has all the following:
Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)
Rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of its returns
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
fair value of the assets transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities assumed on the date of the transaction. Any
contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Acquisition
related costs are charged to expenses. The acquired identifiable assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognized
at their fair value at the date of acquisition.
For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
If the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree exceeds the Group’s share of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the difference is recognized as goodwill. If the fair value of the net assets
acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified
all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be
recognized at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over
the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in profit or loss. Goodwill arising in the acquisition of
subsidiaries is reported as an intangible asset in a separate balance sheet line.
In the consolidated financial statements, the financial information of the parent company and all its subsidiaries is combined on a line-by-line basis. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains relating
to transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment.
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D. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of financial position and the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash
in hand, bank balances (except for overdraft) and deposits with a maturity of 3 months or less.

E. Financial assets
Classification
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.

Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial asset.

Measurement
With the exception of trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial asset and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset.
All the Group’s debt instruments are classified into the amortized cost measurement category.

Amortised cost
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss under other income and expenses. Foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses
are presented as separate line items in profit or loss.

Equity instruments
The Group measures its equity investments at fair value through profit or loss with any changes in fair value recognized in
profit or loss as finance income or costs.

Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.
The measurement of ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range
of possible outcomes, (ii) the time value of money and (iii) reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort at the end of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9 and measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses from initial recognition of the receivables. The Group uses a provision matrix in which allowance is calculated for receivables based on their
maturity or overdue periods. The collectability of receivables is assessed individually for each material customer. The amount
of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The allowance is recognized in profit or loss within other operating
expenses. Uncollectible receivables are written off. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against other operating expenses in the income statement.
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F. Trade receivables and contract assets
Trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15, and subsequently carried as described above under section E “Financial assets”.

G. Inventories
Inventories are measured in the statement of financial position at cost, consisting of the purchase costs, production costs and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Purchase costs include the purchase price, other non-refundable taxes and direct transportation expenses related to the
purchase, less discounts and subsidies.
The cost of the inventory items that are individually identifiable is determined on the basis of expenses incurred for the
acquisition of each item. Other inventories are expensed using the FIFO method.
Inventories are measured in the statement of financial position at the lower of acquisition cost and net realizable value. Net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

H. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are non-current assets used in the operating activities of the Group with a useful life of
over one year. An item of property, plant and equipment is initially recognized at cost which consists of the purchase price
(incl. import duties and other non-refundable taxes) and other costs directly related to the acquisition that are necessary
for bringing the asset to its operating condition and location. An item of property, plant and equipment is carried in the
statement of financial position at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will
flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be determined reliably. The cost of a major overhaul incurred on rental
premises is depreciated over the rental period. Other maintenance and repair costs are expensed when incurred.
Land is not depreciated. Other items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives:
Useful lives by groups of property, plant and equipment:
Buildings and facilities

10-30 years

Machinery and equipment

3-10 years

Vehicles

3-10 years

		

Other non-current assets

3-5 years

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives
of the assets, as follows:
Land		

14-43 years

Buildings and facilities

3-13 years

Vehicles

1-5 years

		

The estimated useful lives of non-current assets are reviewed on each reporting date, when recognizing subsequent improvements and in the event of significant changes in the Group’s development plans. When the estimate of the useful life of the
asset significantly differs from the previously established one, the remaining useful life of the asset is revised, as a result of
which the deprecation charge will change in subsequent periods.
If an item of property, plant and equipment consists of identifiable components with different useful lives, these components are recognized as separate items of property, plant and equipment and separate depreciation rates are set for them
depending on their estimated useful lives.
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Depreciation is commenced from the time when the asset is ready to be used for the purpose intended by the management
and is ceased when the residual value equals the carrying amount.
The management assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is any indication that non-current assets may be impaired.
Whenever there is any indication of impairment, the management determines the recoverable amount (i.e., higher of the
asset’s fair value minus costs to sell and its value in use). If the asset’s recoverable amount is lower than its carrying amount,
the items of property, plant and equipment are written down to their recoverable amount. When the circumstances of
assessing the recoverable amount of the asset have changed, the previous impairment loss is reversed (see section J).
Gains and losses from the sale of items of property, plant and equipment, which are derived by subtracting the residual value
from the sales proceeds, are reported in the line items “Other income” or “Other expenses” in the statement of comprehensive income.

Non-current assets held for sale
The Group classifies non-current assets as held for sale if they are expected to be sold in the next 12 months. The criteria for
held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, and management has initiated the sale
process (e.g., has signed an agreement with another party for future sale). Non-current assets held for sale are measured at
the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

I. Intangible assets
An intangible asset is initially recognized at cost, comprising its purchase price and any directly attributable costs on preparing the asset for its intended use. An item of intangible assets is carried in the statement of financial position at cost less
any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

Software and information systems
Expenditure related to the development and maintenance of software and information systems is included within period
expenses. Expenditure directly related to software or information systems directly controlled by the Group, the cost of which
can be measured reliably and the future benefits of which are expected to flow to the Group over a period longer than one
year is initially recognized under intangible assets. Expenditure includes the wages and salaries of employees involved in
software development and a share of general overhead related to development.
Costs related to the development of information systems and software recognized as intangible assets are amortized on a
straight line basis.
Useful lives of intangible assets by group:
Software and information systems

3-5 years

J. Impairment of non-financial assets
Depreciable assets and assets with unlimited useful lives (land) are evaluated for any evidence of impairment. Whenever
such evidence exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is assessed and compared with the carrying amount.
An impairment loss is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of the asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose of
assessing impairment, the recoverable amount is assessed for each individual asset or for the smallest identifiable group of
assets for which cash flows can be determined (cash generating unit).
On each following reporting date, the assets that have been written down are assessed to determine whether their recoverable amount has increased (except for goodwill). Reversals of impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss as a
reduction of the impairment loss.

K. Leases
(a) Group as a lessee
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. See also Note 9. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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Right-of-use assets
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the
estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:
Land		

14-43 years

Buildings			

3-14 years

Motor vehicles

1-5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section J “Impairment of non
financial assets”.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized
as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date (equal to market interest rate) because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used
to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
The Group’s lease liabilities are included in Borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e.,
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(b) Group as a lessor
As a lessor, the Group determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
If the Group determines that the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset,
the lease is classified as a finance lease. Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other operating income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income due to its operating nature. Contingent lease income is recognized as income in the period in which it is
earned.
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L. Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities (trade payables, borrowings and other current and non-current financial liabilities) are initially recognized
at cost and are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The amortized cost of current
financial liabilities generally equals their nominal value, therefore current financial liabilities are carried in the statement of
financial position at their redemption value. For determining the amortized cost of non-current financial liabilities, they are
initially recognized at the fair value of the consideration received (less any transaction costs), calculating an interest expense
on the liability in subsequent periods using the effective interest method.
A financial liability is classified as current when it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting date or the Group
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or canceled or expires.

M. Employee benefits
(a) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) which fall due within twelve months
after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. Short-term employee benefits include items
such as wages, salaries and social security contributions; benefits related to temporary suspension of the employment contract (such as paid annual leave).

(b) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result of either the Group’s decision to terminate an employee’s
employment before the normal retirement date; or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for
those benefits. The Group recognizes termination benefits as a liability and an expense when, and only when, the Group is
demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of an employee or a group of employees before the normal
retirement date; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy.

N. Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events and it is
probable that the meeting of this obligation leads to lower resources embodying economic benefits and the amount of the
liability can be measured reliably. Provisions are recognized based on the management’s estimate regarding the amount
and timing of the expected outflows. The provision is recognized at a discounted amount which the management considers
necessary for the settlement of the liability relating to the provision or its transfer to a third party as of the reporting date.
Provisions are only used to cover those expenses which they had been set up for.
Other possible or present obligations that arise from past events but it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability, are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as contingent liabilities.

O. Taxation
(a) Corporate income tax
According to the Income Tax Act, the annual profit earned by entities is not taxed in Estonia and therefore, no deferred tax
assets or liabilities arise. Instead the dividends paid out of retained earnings are subject to the corporate income tax rate
of 20/80 of the amount paid out as net dividends. The payment of dividends to shareholders is reported as a liability in
the Group’s financial statements in the period in which dividends are declared by the entity’s shareholders. The corporate
income tax arising from the payment of dividends is recognized as a liability and an income tax expense in the period in which
dividends are declared, regardless of the period for which the dividends are paid or the actual payment date.
According to the UK tax laws, corporate income is subject to taxation. As of 1 April 2020, the rate of corporation tax is 19%.
However, deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
From 2019, tax rate of 14/86 can be applied to dividend payments. The more beneficial tax rate can be used for dividend
payments in the amount of up to the average dividend payment during the three preceding years that were taxed with the
tax rate of 20/80. When calculating the average dividend payment of three preceding years, 2018 is the first year to be taken
into account.
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b) Other taxes
The Group’s costs are affected by the following taxes:
Tax

Tax rate

Social security tax

33% of the payroll and the fringe benefits paid to the employees

Unemployment insurance tax

0.80% on the payroll paid to the employees

Fringe benefit income tax

20/80 on the fringe benefits to the employees

Corporate income tax on expenditures not related to business
activities

20/80 on expenses not related to business activities

P. Revenue recognition
Revenue is income arising in the course of the Group’s ordinary activities. Revenue is measured in the amount of transaction
price. Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange of transferring
control over promised goods or services to a customer, excluding the amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group
recognizes revenue when it transfers control of a good or service to a customer.

Provision of services
The group provides throughput and storage services for crude oil and oil products, railway logistics, railway vehicle repair and
other services related to the above. Revenue from providing services is recognized in the accounting period in which the services are rendered. As a rule, the service period does not exceed one month. Revenue is recognized on the basis of the fees
agreed in the customer contracts or agreements, excluding the amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The revenue is
only recognized to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur.

Sale of goods
The sale of goods is not the Group’s principal activity and does not constitute a significant part of revenue. The Group sells
unused stocks, materials, etc. The Group recognizes revenue from the sale of the goods when it transfers control of a good
to a customer.

Financing component
Group does not have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. Consequently, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

Interest income
Revenue arising from interest is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction
will flow to the entity and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is recognized using the
effective interest method.
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Q. Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve has been set up in conjunction with the acquisition of control in a joint venture (which at the time of
acquisition on 31 December 2007 became a subsidiary of the Group). At the time of acquiring control, the non-current assets
of the joint venture were revalued to fair value and part of the revaluation amount (growth in the value of net assets of the
joint venture between the date of initial acquisition of the shares and obtaining of 100% control) was recognized in the revaluation reserve in equity. The revaluation reserve is part of the restricted equity and it is not distributable to shareholders.
When non-current assets of the acquired subsidiary become impaired, the impairment loss is covered first from the revaluation reserve and the excess amount is reported in the income statement.

R. Statutory reserve capital
In accordance with the Commercial Code, legal reserve is set up from annual net profit allocations. During each financial year,
at least one-twentieth of the net profit shall be entered in the legal reserve, until the reserve reaches one-tenth of share
capital. Legal reserve may be used to cover a loss, or to increase share capital. Payments shall not be made to shareholders
from legal reserve.

S. Foreign exchange reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.

T. Treasury shares
If a group company purchases the parent company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs is deducted from equity attributable to the company’s equity holders until the
shares are canceled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction costs, is included in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders.
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Note 2 Financial risk management
Except for certain investments in shares that are recognized at fair value, all financial assets and liabilities of the Group are
recognized at amortized cost.

2.1. Financial risk
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (includes foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management is performed on AS Liwathon E.O.S’s management level
and focuses on unforeseen changes in the financial markets and attempts to alleviate potential unfavorable effects on the
Group’s financial activities. The goal of the management of financial risks is the lowering of financial risks as well as the volatility of the result of operations.
Risk concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same
geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly
affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s
performance to developments affecting a particular industry.
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group has established specific policies and procedures. For example,
outstanding customer receivables and contract assets are regularly monitored and any sales to major customers are generally
covered by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance obtained from reputable banks and other financial institutions.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group was exposed to significant credit risk concentration, because receivable from one
customer amounted to 58% of total receivables of the Group, the second largest receivable amounted to 15%. As at 31
December 2020, the Group was exposed to significant credit risk concentration, because receivable from one customer
amounted to 69% of total receivables of the Group, the second largest receivable amounted to 12%.

(a) Market risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. The Group is not exposed to price risk, because it does
not hold any securities traded in the open market or other investments in equity instruments.

(I) Currency risk
The Group’s functional currency is the euro (EUR). The Group’s financial instruments affected by the currency risk include
cash and cash equivalents, other short-term deposits and trade receivables.
An overview of the financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in both the euro and foreign currencies is presented
below. The tables present the amounts in thousands of euros by the underlying currency of the respective monetary assets
and liabilities. For the purpose of currency risk management, the management analyses the effects arising from fluctuation in
foreign exchange rates on the Group’s cash flows, considering inflows and outflows in different currencies and their weights
and timing.
31 December 2021

USD

EUR

GBP

Total

10,437

2,458

715

13,610

1,797

9,597

140

11,534

12,234

12,054

855

25,144

Current lease liabilities (Note 9)

0

775

71

846

Other current liabilities (Note 11)

0

1,734

39

1,773

Non-current lease liabilities (Note 9)

0

9,859

63

9,922

Total financial liabilities

0

12,368

173

12,541

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
Short-term receivables (Note 5)
Total financial assets

(EUR thousands)
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USD

EUR

GBP

Total

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)

9,382

2,192

79

11,653

Short-term receivables (Note 5)

1,697

5,482

0

7,179

11,079

7,674

79

18,832

Current lease liabilities (Note 9)

0

768

92

860

Other current liabilities (Note 11)

0

1,866

1

1,867

Non-current lease liabilities (Note 9)

0

10,439

152

10,591

Total financial liabilities

0

13,073

245

13,318

Total financial assets

(EUR thousands)

Short-term receivables include trade receivables and other financial assets. Other current liabilities include trade payables
and other financial liabilities (other than borrowings).
(II) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Based on the previous periods’ movements and volatility of the variables presented below as well as the management’s
knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Group considers the following changes reasonably possible over the
following 12 months.
Proportionate movement in the USD exchange rate – 5% appreciation of USD (depreciation of EUR) and 5% depreciation
of USD (appreciation of EUR); GBP exchange rate – 5% appreciation of GBP (depreciation of EUR) and 5% depreciation
of GBP (appreciation of EUR)
31 December 2021: 1 USD = 0.8829 EUR (31 December 2020: 1 USD = 0.81490 EUR); 1 GBP = 1.1901 EUR (31 December
2020: 1 GBP = 1.11231 EUR)
The following table presents the effects of foreign exchange risk on the Group’s operations.
Foreign exchange risk

Interest rate risk

31
December
2021

USD
appreciates
by 5%

USD
depreciates
by 5%

GBP
appreciates
5%

GBP
depreciates
5%

Interest
rate
increases

Interest
rate
decreases

Carrying
amount

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

13,610

522

-522

36

-36

1

0

614

2

-2

0

0

0

0

10,920

88

-88

0

0

6

0

612

-612

36

-36

7

0

10,768

0

0

-7

7

-1

0

1,773

0

0

-2

2

0

0

0

0

-9

9

-1

0

612

-612

27

-27

7

0

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
Trade receivables (Note 5)
Other financial assets (Note 5)
Total effect on financial assets

Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities (Note 9)
Other financial liabilities (Note 11)
Total effect on financial liabilities
Total effect on statement of
comprehensive income
(EUR thousand)
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Interest rate risk

31
December
2020

USD
appreciates
by 5%

USD
depreciates
by 5%

GBP
appreciates
5%

GBP
depreciates
5%

Interest
rate
increases

Interest
rate
decreases

Carrying
amount

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

Effect on
income
statement

11,653

469

-469

4

-4

12

0

666

3

-3

0

0

0

0

6,513

81

-81

0

0

0

0

553

-553

4

-4

12

0

11,451

0

0

-12

12

-1

0

1,867

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

-12

12

-1

0

553

-553

-8

8

11

0

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
Trade receivables (Note 5)
Other financial assets (Note 5)
Total effect on financial assets

Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities (Note 9)
Other financial liabilities (Note 11)
Total effect on financial liabilities
Total effect on statement of
comprehensive income
(EUR thousand)

The effect of changes in currency exchange rates is material for the Group, as settlements with many clients take place in
USD.

(b) Liquidity risk
For the Group, liquidity risk is the Group’s inability to settle the liabilities it has assumed in time. Liquidity risk is managed by
various financial instruments, such as loans from banks and shareholders, if needed. In its daily activities, the management
attempts to maintain adequate liquid assets to meet its financial obligations, continuously monitoring cash flow forecasts for
the following three months. Longer term forecasts are prepared when raising debt. In concluding long-term and large-scale
construction contracts, feasible payment terms coinciding with cash inflows are agreed upon.
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In the following liquidity analysis, the distribution of the Group’s current and non-current financial liabilities is shown by the
maturity date. All amounts shown in the table are undiscounted cash flows.
Distribution of liabilities by maturity date
Note

Up to 3
months

Between
3 months and
1 year

Between 1
and 5 years

Due after 5
years

Total
undiscounted
cash flows

Carrying amount

Lease payments

9

412

770

3,931

8,688

13,801

10,768

Trade and other
payables*

11

1,773

0

0

0

1,773

1,773

2,185

770

3,931

8,688

15,574

12,541

Note

Up to 3
months

Between 3
months and 1
year

Between 1
and 5 years

Due after 5
years

Total
undiscounted
cash flows

Carrying amount

Lease payments

9

427

791

4,023

9,588

14,829

11,451

Trade and other
payables*

11

1,867

0

0

0

1,867

1,867

2,294

791

4,023

9,588

16,696

13,318

(EUR thousand)

As at 31 December 2021

Total cash flows related
to financial liabilities
(EUR thousand)

As at 31 December 2020

Total cash flows related
to financial liabilities

* Total trade and other payables less prepayments, employee payables, taxes
Leases

Note

< 1 year

due between
1-5 years

later than 5
years

Total

1,182

3,931

8,688

13,801

336

1,107

1,590

3,033

846

2,824

7,098

10,768

1,218

4,023

9,588

14,829

358

1,193

1,826

3,377

860

2,830

7,762

11,451

As at 31 December 2021
Minimum lease payments
Interest payments
Present value of lease payments

9

As at 31 December 2020
Minimum lease payments
Interest payments
Present value of lease payments

9

As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding balance of the lease liability was 10,768 thousand euros (31 December 2020:
11,451 thousand euros). The cash flows presented in the table have not been discounted and do not therefore agree with
the information disclosed in Note 9 “Leases”.
Undiscounted cash flows have been determined according to the current payment schedules valid as of the end of the
period.
Interest rates used in analysis
Lease payments

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

3M EURIBOR+margin;
6M EURIBOR+margin; 3%-4,5%

3M EURIBOR+margin;
6M EURIBOR+margin; 3%-4,5%
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(c) Credit risk
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period
of 36 months before 31 December 2021 or 31 December 2020 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
On that basis described above, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 was determined immaterial. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, no impairment loss was
identified as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.
Credit risk is the risk that the Group’s clients and counterparties fail to fulfill their obligations. The following financial instruments are exposed to credit risk: cash in bank, bank deposits and trade receivables. Cash is deposited in commercial banks
with a high credit rating, bank ratings are presented in Note 4. The Group’s sales transactions are concluded with business
partners that the Group has long-term collaboration experience with and whose solvency has been tested, and the management has not deemed it necessary to assign credit limits to them. One to two-week payment terms are valid for clients,
providing fast feedback to the Group in case of payment difficulties (see the ageing analysis in Note 5).
The Group’s monetary funds have been deposited with banks with a credit rating of at least Baa2 by Moody’s rating agency.
The Group’s maximum amount exposed to credit risk as at the reporting date was as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

13,610

11,653

Trade and other receivables **

2,190

2,549

Term deposits (Note 5)

9,204

4,630

25,004

18,832

(EUR thousand)
Cash and cash equivalents *

Total amounts exposed to credit risk

* Total cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)
** Total trade and other receivables less prepayments (Note 5)

2.2. Capital management
The goal of the Group’s capital management is to continue as a going concern in order to generate returns for its shareholders and maintain an optimal capital structure. For managing capital, management monitors the proportion of debt to
equity in its capital structure.
For the Group, capital includes both lease liabilities (Note 9) (less cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)) as well as equity (Note
12).
The current debt to equity ratio meets the range of expectations of the management.
Note

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Total lease liabilities

9

10,768

11,451

Less cash and cash equivalents

4

-13,610

-11,653

Net debt

-2,842

-202

Equity

50,568

46,477

Total capital

47,726

46,275

-6%

0%

(EUR thousand)

Debt to equity ratio

The Group adheres to the requirement set in the Commercial Code of the Republic of Estonia under which the equity of
the entity must not be less than ½ of the issued capital. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group was in line with this
regulation. The Group’s capital management policy did not change during the year.
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2.3. Fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest when pricing the asset or liability.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair values
are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:
Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets, shares or liabilities
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices)
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
The Group estimates that the fair values of assets and liabilities reported at amortized cost do not materially differ from
the carrying amounts reported in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020.
Trade receivables less allowances and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to short-term
maturities of these instruments.
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Note 3 Key accounting estimates and judgements Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated
financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may
change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected
in the assumptions when they occur.

Determination of useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Management has estimated the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets, considering business
conditions and volumes, historical experience in this field and future outlook. Management has estimated and established
useful lives which are presented in the sections “Property, plant and equipment” and “Intangible assets” of Note 1 “Accounting
policies”. As at 31 December 2021, the cost of the Group’s depreciable property, plant and equipment was 322 million euros
(31 December 2020: 333 million euros) and that of its amortizable intangible assets 0.9 million euros (31 December 2020:
0.9 million euros). The average depreciation rates for items of property, plant and equipment were 4.2% (2020: 4.2%) and
average amortization rates for intangible assets 4.4% (2020: 4.4%). If depreciation and amortization rates were increased
by 10%, the annual depreciation and amortization charge would increase and the net profit decrease by approximately 220
thousand euros (2020: 210 thousand euros).

Impairment test of non-financial assets
On each reporting date, the management assesses whether there are any indications of a non-financial asset being impaired.
In case of such indications, an impairment test is performed and if necessary, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount (if the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount).
The management did not performed an impairment test in 2021 and 2020, as there were no indications of impairment. See
also Note 7.
Key principles of impairment of non-financial assets are presented in Note 1.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – Group as lessee
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an
option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the
lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies judgment in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant
factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. After the commencement date,
the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold
improvements or significant customization to the leased asset).
The Group did not include the renewal period as part of the lease term for its leases of tank reservoirs, the related infrastructure and land leases because these leases have long non-cancellable periods and are not reasonably certain to be
exercised. In addition, the renewal options for leases of motor vehicles are not included as part of the lease term because
the Group typically leases motor vehicles for not more than five years and, hence, is not exercising any renewal options.
Furthermore, the periods covered by early termination options are included as part of the lease term only when they are
reasonably certain not to be exercised.
Refer to Note 9 for information on potential future rental payments relating to periods following the exercise date of extension
and termination options that are not included in the lease term.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate
(IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to
be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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Deferred tax related to an investment in a subsidiary
Retained earnings of subsidiaries give rise to ‘outside’ temporary differences, i.e., differences between the tax bases of
the investments or interests (their original cost) and the carrying amounts of the net assets of the relevant investments or
interests. Although the parent company has control over the operations of the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries and is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences, it is highly probable that the temporary differences related
to the retained earnings of some of these subsidiaries will reverse in the foreseeable future. When the parent company has
determined that such distribution is probable, a separate tax liability is therefore recognized in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

COVID-19 pandemic situation
The Group has assessed the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic situation on its financial statements, including the
going concern assumption. The management has assessed that this matter will not affect the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern as the Group has not experienced and does not expect to experience a significant business disruption due to
this matter and also has sufficient balance of cash and cash equivalents and liquid assets in order to manage the short-term
volatility in the Group’s cash flows if caused by COVID-19 situation.

Impact of the events in Ukraine
On 24 February 2022, the Russian Federation launched a military invasion of Ukraine. Shortly after, the EU and rest of
the world, including global bodies, imposed wide-ranging set of restrictive measures against Russia, which is updated and
expanded on a regular basis. In addition, the Republic of Estonia, and later also the European Union, imposed additional
sanctions on petroleum products coming from Belarus. This non-adjusting subsequent event was not reflected in the significant estimates and assumptions as at 31 December 2021. By the date of authorization of these financial statements,
the restrictive measures imposed had already impacted the Company’s performance: in February and March, a decision
was made to lay off about 20% of the Company’s employees, as the sanctions ended certain trade flows. At the same time,
since new products and customers have been found, it was possible to increase the number of employees again in April. In
conclusion, the Company’s operations have not been suspended and no significant direct losses related to the restrictive
measures had been incurred as at the date of the financial statements, nonetheless the stability has declined significantly as
most customer contracts are now short-term due to increased risks.
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Note 4 Cash and cash equivalents
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Cash in banks

13,610

11,653

Total cash and cash equivalents

13,610

11,653

(EUR thousand)

According to the ratings by the international rating agency Moody’s, the Group’s monetary funds have been deposited in
financial institutions as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents in financial
institutions

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

7,832

11,300

Financial institutions with credit rating Baa1

96

265

Financial institutions with credit rating Baa2

5,582

9

100

79

13,610

11,653

Financial institutions with credit rating Aa2

Financial institutions with no credit rating
Total cash and cash equivalents in financial
institutions
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Note 5 Trade and other receivables and prepayments
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Accounts receivable

614

666

Total trade receivables

614

666

Prepaid taxes (see below)

146

280

Total prepaid taxes

146

280

9,204

4,630

161

20

1,576

1,883

10,941

6,533

236

264

11,937

7,743

(EUR thousand)
Short-term receivables and prepayments

Term deposits
Loans to related parties (Note 21)
Other receivables
Total other short-term receivables
Prepayments for services
Total receivables and prepayments

The majority of trade receivables are denominated in EUR. Other receivables are mostly denominated in EUR. The split of receivables by currency is disclosed in Note 2. As at 31 December 2021, other receivables of 1,576 thousand euros (31 December
2020: 1,883 thousand euros) consisted of customs deposit paid to the Estonian Tax and Customs Board and credit invoices
issued by a supplier for port fees. Other receivables do not include any material receivables that are overdue or impaired.
The credit quality of receivables is assessed on the basis of credit ratings assigned by independent parties or, if absent, based on
prior credit history of relevant customers.
Other receivables classified as financial assets have not been awarded with credit ratings by independent parties.
Term deposits are comprised of EUR deposits with financial institutions for an original term longer than 3 months. Changes in
term deposits are included in cash flows from investing activities in the statement of cash flows.

Term deposits with financial institutions

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Financial institutions with credit rating Baa1

1,766

3,000

Financial institutions with credit rating Baa2

7,438

1,630

Total term deposits with financial institutions

9,204

4,630
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Analysis of accounts receivable is presented below.
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

614

660

overdue by 1 month

0

6

Total accounts receivable overdue but not impaired

0

6

614

666

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

14

4

Accounts receivable (settled within or after 6 months) that are
not overdue in the last 6 months

407

512

Accounts receivable (settled within or after 6 months) that
were overdue in the last 6 months

193

144

Total accounts receivable not due

614

660

Accounts receivable not due and not impaired
Accounts receivable overdue but not impaired

Total accounts receivable

Accounts receivable not due and not impaired
Accounts receivable (settled within 6 months)

All receivables, which were not yet due as of 31 December 2021 were collected by the date of the preparation of the annual
report.
Doubtful receivables are deemed as irrecoverable when there are no expectations in respect of collection of cash or other
financial assets.
More detailed information about prepaid taxes and recoveries as well as taxes payable (see also Note 11) is presented in the
following table:
31 December 2021
Tax

31 December 2020

Prepayment

Tax payable

Prepayment

Tax payable

0

6

0

6

146

0

280

0

Personal income tax

0

142

0

158

Social security tax

0

276

0

284

Contributions to mandatory funded
pension

0

6

0

11

Unemployment insurance tax

0

15

0

16

Environmental taxes

0

6

0

8

146

451

280

483

Corporate income tax
Value added tax

Total
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Note 6 Inventories
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

339

367

Goods purchased for sale

1,318

1,185

Total

1,657

1,552

(EUR thousand)
Spare parts and other inventories

No decrease in the value of inventories was identified as at 31 December 2021 or 31 December 2020. All inventory is
recognized at cost.
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

Non-current assets held for sale

0

551

Total

0

551

(EUR thousand)

In December 2020, the Group signed a notarized agreement for the sale of a property recognized under non-current assets.
In accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract, the Group issued a prepayment invoice to the buyer, which was
paid by 31 December 2020.
To better reflect the nature of the assets, the Group therefore reclassified the property to non-current assets held for sale
in 2020.
The sale took place in December 2021, during which the property was handed over and the final sales invoice formalized.
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Note 7 Property, plant and equipment
Land

Buildings
and
facilities

Machinery
and
equipment

Other PPE

Construction
in progress
and prepayments

Total

13,348

230,167

98,139

1,712

390

343,756

-496

-209,117

-90,378

-1,664

0

-301,655

12,852

21,050

7,761

48

390

42,101

0

2

7

40

1,259

1,308

Reclassification

-551

813

578

0

-1,391

-551

Disposals and write-offs at carrying amount

-438

-247

-1,842

-33

0

-2,559

Depreciation charge

0

319

0

79

0

398

Depreciation charge

72

0

83

0

0

155

Depreciation charge

-487

-1,168

-390

-50

0

-2,095

Adoption of IFRS 16

0

-7

0

0

0

-7

12,389

230,853

87,853

1,698

258

333,049

-942

-210,089

-81,656

-1,612

0

-294,299

11,447

20,764

6,198

84

258

38,751

Additions

0

50

4

25

899

978

Reclassification

0

237

384

0

-620

0

Disposals and write-offs at carrying amount

0

-35

-7

0

0

-42

99

-72

41

0

-476

-972

-704

-44

0

-2,196

0

13

0

6

0

19

Cost

12,488

223,544

84,471

1,380

537

322,421

Accumulated depreciation

-1,418

-203,560

-78,556

-1,310

0

-284,844

Carrying amount

11,071

19,984

5,915

70

537

37,577

(EUR thousand)
Balance as at 31 December 2019
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount
Changes in 2020
Additions

Balance as at 31 December 2020
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount
Changes in 2021

Additions to and change in right-of-use
assets (Note 9)
Depreciation charge
Change in exchange rates

68

Balance as at 31 December 2021
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In FY 2020, the management decided to sell all assets related to railway operations. The profit from these sales totaled 3,192
thousand euros. The Group also terminated all lease agreements related to railway business in FY 2020.
No indications of impairment were identified for non-current assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020. The carrying value of property, plant and equipment (including leased assets) is considered to approximate their fair
value.
In 2020, the bank released the pledges of assets formerly pledged as collateral for loans as all loans were repaid in February
2019.
Maturity and liquidity information for leases is provided in notes 2(b) and 9.
The categories of “Land”, “Buildings and facilities” and “Machinery and equipment” also include right-of-use assets, the balances of which have been disclosed in Note 9.
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Note 8 Intangible assets
(EUR thousand)

Other intangible assets

Total

895

895

-839

-839

55

55

14

14

0

0

-27

-27

909

909

-866

-866

43

43

61

61

0

0

-27

-27

948

948

-870

-870

78

78

Balance as at 31 December 2019
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount
Changes in 2020
Additions in reporting period
Disposals and write-offs at carrying amount
Amortisation charge
Balance as at 31 December 2020
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount
Changes in 2021
Additions in reporting period
Disposals and write-offs at carrying amount
Amortisation charge
Balance as at 31 December 2021
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount
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Note 9 Leases
Group as lessee
The Group has lease contracts for various items of property, machinery, vehicles and other equipment used in its operations. Leases of land and other property generally have lease terms between 3 and 15 years, while motor vehicles and other
equipment generally have lease terms between 2 and 43 years. The Group’s obligations under its leases are secured by the
lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets. There
are several lease contracts that include extension and termination options and variable lease payments, which are further
discussed below. The Group also has certain leases of machinery with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office
equipment with low value. The Group applies the ‘short-term lease’ and ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemptions
for these leases.
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognized under property, plant and equipment and the
movements during the period:
(EUR thousand)

Land

Buildings

Machinery and
equipment

Total

As at 31 December 2019

8,435

2,993

508

11,935

72

311

91

474

Disposals and write-offs at carrying amount

-437

-247

-246

-930

Depreciation charge

-487

-298

-155

-941

7,582

2,759

198

10,539

0

0

41

41

99

-72

0

27

0

14

0

14

-475

-305

-92

-872

7,206

2,396

156

9,758

Additions

As at 31 December 2020
Additions
Change
Change in exchange rates
Depreciation charge
As at 31 December 2021

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period:
2021

2020

11,451

12,715

Additions

41

474

Change

27

0

0

-930

358

386

Payments

-1,108

-1,194

As at 31 December

10,768

11,451

846

860

9,922

10,591

As at 1 January

Terminations
Accretion of interest (Note 17)

Current
Non-current

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 2(b)
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The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss:
2021

2020

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets

872

941

Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note
17)

358

386

Expenses relating to short-term leases
(included in operating expenses)

21

18

Expenses relating to leases of low-value
assets (included in operating expenses)

33

39

Variable lease payments (included in
operating expenses)

87

173

1,371

1,557

Total amount recognized in profit or loss

The Group’s lease payments amounted to 1,108 thousand euros in the reporting year (2020: 1,194 thousand euros). The
Group also had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of 41 thousand euros in 2021 (2020: 474
thousand euros).
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options are negotiated by
management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the Group’s business needs. Management exercises significant judgment in determining whether these extension and termination options are reasonably
certain to be exercised (see Note 3).
The Group’s lease liabilities are denominated in both EUR and GBP (see Note 2).

Group as a lessor
The Group has entered into operating leases on its infrastructure and premises. These leases have terms shorter than 12
months.
The total lease income recognized by the Group during the year amounted to 116 thousand euros (2020: 59 thousand euros).
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:
Lease income

2021

2020

Office space rent

47

41

Infrastructure access charge

69

18

116

59

Total lease income
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Note 10 Other current financial assets
2021

2020

Cost

0

1,402

Fair value adjustment through profit or loss

0

-184

Fair value as at 31 December

0

1,218

(EUR thousand)

In 2020, the Group, through acquisition of the subsidiary Liwathon Limited, obtained convertible bonds (Note 18), which
were converted into shares of the issuer on 5 October 2020. The shares are listed and measured at fair value.
Fair value measurement is based on Level 1 inputs as defined in IFRS 13.
In the first half of 2021, the Group sold all acquired shares on the stock exchange. Proceeds from the sale of shares amounted
to 825 thousand euros (see Note 17).

Note 11 Trade and other payables
(EUR thousand)

Note

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

100

101

1,000

777

1,100

878

988

794

451

483

0

145

985

1,283

3,524

3,583

Trade payables
Payables for non-current assets
Payables for other services and goods
Total trade payables
Employee payables
Taxes payable

5

Prepayments received (contract liability)
Other payables
Total trade and other payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and payable within a year. Employee payables include salary payable and accrued
holiday pay liability. Interest payables are settled on a monthly basis. Other payables are non-interest bearing and payable
within 6 months. Information on liquidity risk has been disclosed in Note 2.1(b).

Note 12 Equity
Share capital (in thousand euros)
The number of shares issued and fully paid (pcs)
incl. number of treasury shares (pcs)
Nominal value of shares (in euros)

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

2,133

2,133

33,334

33,334

3,332

3,332

64.00

64.00

As at 31 December 2021 maximum profit distributions from the consolidated retained earnings were in the amount of
104,168 thousand euros (31 December 2020: 100,965 thousand euros). The income tax payable on these dividends would
be 26,042 thousand euros (31 December 2020: 25,241 thousand euros).
In 2021, the Group paid dividends in the amount of 2.0 million euros and the accompanying corporate income tax in the
amount of 500 thousand euros.
In 2011, AS Liwathon E.O.S. acquired a total of 3,332 own shares from shareholders.
According to the articles of association, the minimum share capital of AS Liwathon E.O.S. is 1 million euros and the maximum
share capital 4 million euros.
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Note 13 Revenue
The place of occurrence of the Group’s sales revenue is Estonia.

Distribution of revenue by activity:
(EUR thousand)

2021

2020

Transhipment of oil products

8,990

2,806

16,896

26,126

Railway services

0

15

Repair services

0

1

Income from management services

72

61

Income from infrastructure access charges

69

18

153

280

26,180

29,307

2021

2020

105

85

3,187

1,662

34

31

252

272

2,545

1,701

Maintenance and repairs related to operating
activities

963

1,011

Other operating expenses

898

856

Land tax and lease expenses

256

341

Insurance expenses

407

469

33

39

885

357

87

121

Office rent and maintenance, office supplies and
fixtures

128

106

Security costs

309

315

Employee-related expenses

126

132

IT costs

191

193

39

42

10,445

7,733

Storage of oil products

Other revenue
Total revenue from contracts with customers

Note 14 Operating expenses
(EUR thousand)
Logistics services expenses
Heating expenses
Fuel costs related to main operating activities
Port fees
Electricity expenses

Lease of assets related to main operating
activities
Consulting fees
Maintenance of other assets

Telecommunications expenses
Total operating expenses
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Note 15 Staff costs
(EUR thousand)

2021

2020

Basic and additional wages, bonuses,
vacation pay, contractors’ fees

6,798

6,782

103

231

Social security taxes and unemployment
insurance premium

2,206

2,292

Total staff costs

9,107

9,305

Benefits and compensation

In 2021, the Group employed 218 employees on average (2020: 247 employees).

Note 16 Other income and expenses
Other income

2021

2020

17

0

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

352

3,205

Other income

157

52

1

0

60

0

0

170

587

3,427

0

-47

Loss on disposal and write-off of property,
plant and equipment (note 7)

-15

-3

Total other expenses

-15

-50

Insurance compensations

Penalties received
Foreign exchange gains
Gain from sale of subsidiary
Total other income
Other expenses
Foreign exchange losses

As part of restructuring of the Group, AS E.R.S. was demerged by way of separation in 2020 with an aim to optimize the
Group’s operations. In accordance with the demerger agreement, AS E.R.S. transferred part of its net assets, including lease
agreement signed with Eesti Energia AS on 12 January 2011 for the use of the depot building at Peterburi tee 105, Maardu,
Harju County 74114, together with all related rights and obligations and employment contracts of employees engaged in
repair and maintenance of the depot and railway as well as many related assets, to a newly established group entity GoRealworks OÜ. The new subsidiary was sold in April 2020 for 200 thousand euros.
The Group also sold the net assets of its subsidiary EK Holding in 2020 for 3 thousand euros.
In December 2020, the Group signed a notarized agreement for the sale of a property recognized under non-current assets.
In accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract, the Group issued a prepayment invoice to the buyer, which was
paid by 31 December 2020. From the sale of this property, the Group received an 80 thousand euro prepayment in FY 2020
and 810 thousand euros in 2021 (see Note 6).
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Note 17 Finance income and costs
2021

2020

Interest income from bank accounts and
deposits

11

7

Other interest income

95

28

Foreign exchange gains

956

0

Gain on sale of securities (Note 10)

825

0

Other finance income

0

258

Total finance income

1,887

293

-358

-386

Other finance costs

0

-197

Foreign exchange losses

0

-713

-358

-1,296

1,529

-1,003

(EUR thousand)
Finance income and costs
Finance income

Interest expenses on leases (Note 9)

Total finance costs
Total finance income and costs
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Note 18 Acquisition of a subsidiary
In April 2020, Liwathon E.O.S. acquired 100% ownership in Liwathon Limited.
Liwathon Limited is an entity incorporated in the United Kingdom and engaged in provision of business development and
other support services.
Since Liwathon E.O.S. gained control over the entity in April 2020, all assets, liabilities, income and expenses have been consolidated since 1 April 2020.
In 2020, the Group’s consolidated report included the loss incurred by Liwathon Limited in the amount of 296 thousand
euros. If the business combination had taken place at the beginning of 2020, the Group would have consolidated the entire
loss incurred by Liwathon Limited in the financial year in the amount of 370 thousand euros.
Set out below are fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired as at the acquisition date (in thousands euros):
Fair value as at 1 April 2020
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables and prepayments

31
178

Other financial assets

1,131

Total current assets

1,340

Non-current assets
Property and equipment (Note 7)

398

Total non-current assets

398

TOTAL ASSETS

1,738

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities (Note 9)

93

Trade and other payable

70

Total current liabilities

163

Non-current liabilities

0

Lease liabilities (Note 9)

225

Total non-current liabilities

225

TOTAL LIABILITIES

388

FAIR VALUE OF NET ASSETS

1,350

Consideration transferred in cash

1,350
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Note 19 Contingent liabilities
(a) Guarantees issued
The Group has issued deposit guarantees in amount of 1,389 thousand euros (2020: 1,389 thousand euros) for the benefit
of the Estonian Tax and Customs Board. Since all bank loans had been repaid by 2020 and related pledge agreements terminated, the Group made a deposit payment of 428 thousand euros to the Tax and Customs Board for continuation of its
activities in 2020.

(b) Potential liabilities arising from the tax audit
The tax authorities have not carried out any tax audits in the Group in 2021 and 2020. The tax authorities have the right to
verify the tax records of group entities up to 5 years from the time of submitting the tax declaration and upon finding errors,
impose additional taxes, interest and fines.
The Group’s management is not aware of any circumstances which may lead the tax authorities to impose additional significant taxes on the Group companies.

Note 20 Off-balance sheet liabilities and commitments
Investment commitments

Investment commitments arising from construction contracts are as follows (in EUR thousand)
Contracts for the following period
As at 31 December 2021

81

As at 31 December 2020

76

Note 21 Related party transactions
In preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements, the following entities have been considered as related parties:
a.
b.
c.
d.

Owners (persons having joint control over the entity and the persons controlling or having significant
influence over them);
Other entities of the owners’ consolidation groups (incl. fellow subsidiaries);
Management and supervisory boards;
Close relatives of the persons described above and the entities under their control or significant influence.

The shareholder of AS Liwathon E.O.S. is Liwathon Terminals Estonia OÜ. The sole shareholder of Liwathon Terminals Estonia
OÜ is a Guernsey company Liwathon Terminals Limited.
(EUR thousand)

31 December 2021

31 December 2020

21

20

140

0

2021

2020

1

0

91

0

-8,308

0

8,175

0

Balances with related parties
Loan granted
Loan to parent company (Note 5)
Loan to related party (Note 5)
(EUR thousand)
Transactions with related parties
Interest income from loan to parent company
Interest income from loan to related party
Loans to related parties
Repayment of loans to related parties

During the reporting period, the Group granted a loan to a related party, which was fully repaid during the reporting period.
In the reporting period, the remuneration paid to the management and supervisory board members of the group entities
totaled 1,151 thousand euros (2020: 899 thousand euros) (Note 15).
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Note 22 Subsequent events
On 24 February 2022, the Russian Federation launched a military invasion of Ukraine. Shortly after, the EU and rest of
the world, including global bodies, imposed wide-ranging set of restrictive measures against Russia, which is updated and
expanded on a regular basis. In addition, the Republic of Estonia, and later also the European Union, imposed additional
sanctions on petroleum products coming from Belarus. This non-adjusting subsequent event was not reflected in the significant estimates and assumptions as at 31 December 2021. By the date of authorization of these financial statements,
the restrictive measures imposed had already impacted the Company’s performance: in February and March, a decision
was made to lay off about 20% of the Company’s employees, as the sanctions ended certain trade flows. At the same time,
since new products and customers have been found, it was possible to increase the number of employees again in April. In
conclusion, the Company’s operations have not been suspended and no significant direct losses related to the restrictive
measures had been incurred as at the date of the financial statements, nonetheless the stability has declined significantly as
most customer contracts are now short-term due to increased risks. The Company will be able to continue as a going concern
for the next 12 months.

Note 23 Supplementary disclosures on the parent of the Group
According to the Accounting Act of Estonia, the notes to the consolidated financial statements shall include disclosures on
the separate primary financial statements of the consolidating entity (parent). These primary financial statements of the
parent of the Group are not separate financial statements as defined by IAS 27 Separate financial statements. The separate
primary statements of the parent have been prepared using the same accounting policies that have been used for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, except for investments into subsidiaries, which are reported at cost in the
parent’s separate statements.
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Statement of financial position of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

11,995

10,537

8,494

4,908

113

136

1,657

1,552

0

551

22,259

17,684

1,638

1,638

37,410

38,443

78

43

Total non-current assets

39,126

40,124

TOTAL ASSETS

61,385

57,808

775

768

Trade and other payables

10,392

10,693

Total current liabilities

11,167

11,461

Lease liabilities

9,858

10,439

Total non-current liabilities

9,858

10,439

21,025

21,900

2,133

2,133

63,177

63,177

213

213

3,185

3,185

114,064

109,613

-142,413

-142,413

Total equity

40,360

35,908

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

61,385

57,808

(EUR thousand)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Prepayments
Inventories
Non-current assets held for sale
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Borrowings

Non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Legal reserve
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Treasury shares
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Statement of comprehensive income of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
2021

2020

26,354

29,444

569

263

26,923

29,707

Operating expenses

-9,926

-7,584

Staff costs

-8,595

-8,430

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

-2,108

-1,811

-15

-48

-20,644

-17,873

Operating profit (loss)

6,279

11,834

Finance income

1,615

977

-943

-2,065

673

-1,087

6,951

10,747

-500

0

6,451

10,747

0

0

6,451

10,747

(EUR thousand)
Revenue
Other income
Total operating income
Operating expenses

Other expenses
Total operating expenses

Finance costs
Total finance income and costs
Profit (loss) before tax
Income tax
Net profit (loss) for financial year
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income (loss) for financial
year
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Cash flow statement of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
2021

2020

6,451

10,747

2,108

1,784

Gain/loss (-/+) on disposal and write-off
of property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets

-330

27

Other finance income/expenses

-673

1,087

Change in receivables and inventories related to operating activities

-72

10,071

Change in liabilities and prepayments related to operating activities

282

-10,569

-500

0

-5

-14

-355

-377

6,906

12,756

-949

-1,308

Purchase of intangible assets

-62

-14

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and
equipment

811

7

-5,175

0

5,175

0

0

-463

464

0

Sale of subsidiary

0

203

Acquisition of subsidiary

0

-1,350

Change in term deposits

-4,400

-1,653

71

6

-4,065

-4,572

(EUR thousand)
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (loss) before tax
Adjustments:
Depreciation and impairment

Income tax on dividends
Other adjustments
Interest paid
Total cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Loans to related parties
Repayment of loans to related parties
Loans to parent and subsidiary
Repayment of loans to parent and subsidiary

Interest received
Total cash flows from investing activities

2021 Annual Report

|

62

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid
Repayment of lease principal
Total cash flows from financing activities
Total cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the year
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Currency translation differences
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year

-2,000

0

-684

-716

-2,684

-716

156

7,468

10,537

3,785

156

7,468

1,302

-716

11,995

10,537
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Statement of changes in equity of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
Share
capital

Share
premium

Statutory
reserve
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Treasury
shares

Total

2,133

63,177

213

3,185

98,865

-142,413

25,160

Profit for the year

0

0

0

0

10,747

0

10,747

Total comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

10,747

0

10,747

2,133

63,177

213

3,185

109,613

-142,413

35,908

(EUR thousand)

Balance as at 31 December 2019

Unconsolidated balance as at 31
December 2020
Carrying amount of investments
under significant influence

-1,638

Value of investments under the
equity method

12,207

Adjusted unconsolidated equity
as at 31 December 2020

46,477

Balance as at 31 December 2020

2,133

63,177

213

3,185

98,865

-142,413

25,160

Profit for the year

0

0

0

0

6,451

0

6,451

Dividends paid

0

0

0

0

-2,000

0

-2,000

Total comprehensive income

0

0

0

0

6,451

0

6,451

2,133

63,177

213

3,185

114,064

-142,413

40,360

Unconsolidated balance as at 31
December 2021
Carrying amount of investments
under significant influence

-1,638

Value of investments the equity
method

11,846

Adjusted unconsolidated equity
as at 31 December 2021

50,568

Adjusted unconsolidated retained earnings represent the amount that is available for distribution to the shareholders
according to the Accounting Act of Estonia.
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Translation of the Estonian Original
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholder of AS Liwathon E.O.S.
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AS Liwathon E.O.S. and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the consolidated financial statements in Estonia, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of Management report, but does not consist of
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
With respect to the Management report, we also performed the procedures required by the Auditors Activities Act of the Republic
of Estonia. Those procedures include considering whether the Management report is consistent, in all material respects, with the
consolidated financial statements and is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Accounting Act of the Republic of
Estonia.
Based on the work performed during our audit, in our opinion:
•
•

the Management Report is consistent, in all material respects, with the consolidated financial statements;
the Management Report has been prepared in accordance with the applicable requirements of the Accounting Act of the
Republic of Estonia.
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (Estonia) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia), we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

•
•
•

•
•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control;
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management;
conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern;
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation;
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Tallinn, 25 April 2022
					
Olesia Abramova							Olga Pliškina
Authorised Auditor’s number 561					
Authorised Auditor’s number 736
Ernst & Young Baltic AS
Audit Company’s Registration number 58
Rävala pst 4, 10143 Tallinn
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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AS Liwathon E.O.S. unconsolidated revenue in accordance with EMTAK 2008
EMTAK code

Activity

2021

2020

52241

Cargo handling

8,990

2,806

52299

Other supporting and auxiliary transport services

16,948

26,370

66191

Financial consulting

174

174

68201

Rental and operating of own or leased real estate

141

83

46771

Wholesale of waste and scrap, buying up packaging and tare

101

11

Total unconsolidated revenue

26,354

29,444
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